

# **REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS**

# Information Technology (IT) Managed Service Provider and Network Operations Center (NOC)

DATE ISSUED: October 23, 2025

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION	1
A.	PURPOSE	1
B.	BACKGROUND	1
C.	SCOPE OF PROCUREMENT	1
D.	QUALIFICATIONS OF OFFEROR	5
E.	PROCUREMENT MANAGER	6
II.	CONDITIONS GOVERNING THE PROCUREMENT	6
A.	SEQUENCE OF EVENTS	6
B.	EXPLANATION OF EVENTS	7
C.	GENERAL REQUIREMENTS	9
III.	RESPONSE FORMAT AND ORGANIZATION	12
A.	NUMBER OF RESPONSES	12
B.	PROPOSAL FORMAT AND CONTENTS	12
IV.	EVALUATION	14
A.	EVALUATION POINT TABLE/SUMMARY:	14
B.	EVALUATION FACTORS	14
C.	EVALUATION PROCESS	14

# Appendices:

- A. Letter of Transmittal Form B. NMFA Professional Services Agreement

#### I. INTRODUCTION

#### A. PURPOSE

The New Mexico Finance Authority ("NMFA") requests proposals from qualified firms ("Offerors") to be the NMFA's Managed Service Provider ("MSP"), to specifically include Support Desk and Network Operations Center ("NOC") functions.

#### B. BACKGROUND

The New Mexico Finance Authority ("NMFA") is a mission-driven, quasi-governmental organization with a portfolio exceeding \$3 billion. NMFA is dedicated to strengthening New Mexico's economic ecosystem by providing essential capital through a variety of mechanisms, including loans, grants, venture capital investments, and bond issuances.

As NMFA continues to expand its mission, program offerings, and staff, the organization recognizes the increasing importance of sustainability, resiliency, security, and operational efficiency. To support these objectives, NMFA is seeking to procure third-party Information Technology (IT) services, specifically for Support Desk and Network Operations Center ("NOC") functions.

This strategic initiative is intended to enhance the efficiency, scalability, and responsiveness of NMFA's IT operations by leveraging external expertise. The selected Offeror will play a critical role in ensuring consistent service delivery, improving incident resolution times, and providing access to specialized technical skills, thereby enabling NMFA's internal resources to focus on core business priorities.

By aligning with industry best practices, including IT Service Management ("ITSM") and Information Technology Infrastructure Library ("ITIL") standards, NMFA aims to optimize service quality, reduce operational risk, and deliver cost-effective support across all tiers of IT service management. These services will also support the implementation of key organizational frameworks, the reduction of duplicative systems, and the successful deployment of NMFA's Integrated Business Applications ("IBA") project, which includes Salesforce, IvyTek, and Sage Intacct.

The scope of services sought through this Request for Proposals ("RFP") includes support for these systems, as well as all other software and network infrastructure utilized by NMFA.

#### C. SCOPE OF PROCUREMENT

The selected firm will be responsible for receiving, managing, and resolving all IT-generated service requests (hereinafter referred to as "Help Tickets") in accordance with established industry best practices.

All proposed services must be aligned with the Information Technology Infrastructure Library ("ITIL") and Information Security Incident Management ("ISIM") standards. Each Offeror is

required to submit applicable Service Level Agreements ("SLAs") that clearly define performance expectations, response times, resolution metrics, and escalation procedures.

- 1. **Support Desk**. Customer-facing support unit responsible for addressing end-user issues and inquiries related to IT services. First point of contact for users seeking IT assistance via Help Tickets. Help Tickets will be submitted by NMFA staff for common support issues, and from IT staff for more complex issues, including those issues that might be resolved internally, externally with higher-end support or through the NOC. The NMFA desires one input for all such requests, with the responsibility of routing and logging those requests at the Support Desk. At a high level, the Support Desk will provide the following functions:
- 1.1. User Support: Direct assistance to end-users, addressing their technical problems or inquiries.
- 1.2. **Issue Resolution:** Respond and resolve issues promptly, either by offering solutions or escalating problems to the appropriate teams.
- 1.3. **User Guidance:** Provide guidance to users on using IT services and applications effectively.
- 1.4. **Ticketing System:** Use ticketing systems to manage and track user requests and reported issues. The NMFA currently uses Zendesk.
- 1.5. **Documentation:** Maintain documentation for common issues and solutions, facilitating faster resolutions in the future.
- 2. **Network Operations Center ("NOC").** Serve as the central command hub for monitoring and managing the NMFA's infrastructure. Primary responsibility is the proactive monitoring of networks, servers, and infrastructure to prevent disruptions and ensure optimal performance. Key functions are:
- 2.1 **Continuous Monitoring:** 24/7 operation, constantly monitoring network performance and security.
- 2.2 **Alert Management**: Receipt of alerts and notifications for any irregularities or potential threats, ensuring immediate action is taken.
- 2.3 **Performance Optimization**: Optimize network performance, making adjustments and improvements as necessary.
- 2.4 **Incident Management:** In the event of critical incidents, take immediate action to resolve issues efficiently.
- 2.5 **Infrastructure Maintenance:** Manage network infrastructure, ensuring it remains up to date and secure.

- 3. **Service Tiers.** Provide the above services in accord with ITIL and ITISM standards, and in particular escalate and respond to issues as follows.
- 3.1 **Tier 0, Self-Service / Automated Support.** As the primary recipient of IT Service Requests, the selected firm is expected to assist in the development of user-driven support that will not require direct interaction with IT staff, as follows:
- 3.1.1 Capture, analyze and categorize the type, level, system and nature of support requests received on a monthly basis.
- 3.1.2 Based upon the above information, identify and develop user resources for self-help in order to minimize the number of Help Tickets and enable Users to effectively answer many of their own questions.
  - 3.1.3 Examples of User resources to be developed may include:
    - 3.1.3.1 Knowledge bases
    - 3.1.3.2 FAQs
    - 3.1.3.3 Chatbots
    - 3.1.3.4 Automated password resets
    - 3.1.3.5 Video tutorials
- 3.2 **Tier 1, Service Desk**. This is the first point of contact for incidents, handling monitoring, basic troubleshooting, and initial event correlation and triage. Their goal is to resolve issues quickly, often handling a significant percentage of incidents. The selected firm is expected to:
  - 3.2.1 Receive, log, categorize and triage Help Tickets.
  - 3.2.2 Troubleshoot and resolve the issues identified, including utilization and coordination with on-site NMFA IT staff.
  - 3.2.3 Route and escalate tickets as appropriate, either to:
    - 3.2.3.1 a higher tier
    - 3.2.3.2 NMFA IT or Innovation staff,
    - 3.2.3.3 NOC, or
    - 3.2.3.4 Other NMFA third party software service support providers.
- 3.3 **Tier 2, Second Line Support**. Issues escalated from Tier 1 go to Tier 2, require technicians with more specialized knowledge in order to handle complex problems often requiring deeper investigation. The selected firm is expected to conduct:
  - 3.3.1 In depth technical troubleshooting
  - 3.3.2 Root cause analysis

- 3.4 **Tier 3, Expert Support**. Highest level of technical support, often involving product developers, and highly skilled professionals who address the most critical and complex issues, including major outages and system enhancements. For Expert Support, issue resolution is expected via hourly rates against a task order against a negotiated contract. The selected firm is expected to perform:
  - 3.4.1 Complex issue resolution
  - 3.4.2 Bug fixes and patches
  - 3.4.3 Infrastructure or application design changes
  - 3.4.4 Any other services requested by the NMFA.
- 4. **License Consolidation.** Partner with the NMFA to optimize software assets by eliminating redundant applications and functionalities, merging multiple licenses into fewer, more comprehensive agreements, and centralizing management to improve efficiency, reduce costs, and maintain compliance, including:
- 4.1 Auditing and Assessment. Thoroughly reviewing the existing software portfolio to identify all installed applications, deployed licenses, and associated costs.
- 4.2 Eliminating Redundancy. Identifying and removing overlapping software tools that perform similar functions.
- 4.3 Merging Licenses. Combining multiple licenses for the same software or similar functionalities into a single, more efficient license agreement.
- 4.4 Centralizing Management. Establishing a unified system to track, monitor, and manage software licenses across the organization.
- 4.5 Rationalizing the Tech Stack. Strategically replacing underused tools with more comprehensive platforms that offer overlapping features, rather than maintaining multiple separate applications.
- 4.6 Ensure Adequate Support. Establish direct relationships for customer support by ensuring direct relationships to software providers or adequate expertise from resellers.
- 5. **Transition Plan.** Deliver a detailed roadmap for transferring Support Desk and NOC functions from an internal team to a third-party provider, encompassing planning, knowledge transfer, process documentation, timeline management, stakeholder communication, and contingency planning to ensure a seamless, well-coordinated handover that minimizes disruptions and maintains operational continuity. In addition to the above, the Plan must include:
- 5.1 **Process Mapping and Documentation.** Detail all relevant help desk processes, protocols, and procedures, ensuring the outsourced team understands them completely.
- 5.2 **Timeline and Milestones.** Provide a schedule with clear deadlines for each phase, from initial setup to go-live and ongoing operations.

- 5.3 **Roles and Responsibilities.** Define responsibilities for each task and decision, both within the internal team and the outsourcing provider.
- 5.4 **Communication Plan.** Provide a plan that details the communication strategy, timing and channels for various stakeholders, including employees, IT teams, and leadership, to provide updates, address concerns, and ensure alignment.
- 5.5 **Training and Support.** Provide a plan for the training and support required for the internal team and the outsourced provider to ensure a smooth handover and effective ongoing collaboration.
- 5.6 **Testing and Validation.** Implement testing phases to validate that the outsourced team can perform the required functions correctly and meet service level agreements (SLAs).
- 5.7 **Contingency Planning.** Develop plans for unexpected issues, such as service outages or performance discrepancies, to ensure business continuity.
- 5.8 **Performance Monitoring.** Set up mechanisms for tracking and evaluating the outsourced team's performance against the defined SLAs.

#### D. QUALIFICATIONS OF OFFEROR

To be considered as a qualified firm, each proposed Offeror must provide adequate evidence of the following minimum qualifications:

- 1. A minimum of five (5) years' experience providing the requested services in the financial services industry.
  - 2. Receipt of and adherence to ISO 2000 Certification standards.
  - 3. Insurance coverage in the following amounts:
- 3.1 Commercial General Liability (CGL) \$1 million per occurrence, \$2 million aggregate. Covers bodily injury, property damage, and personal injury.
- 3.2 Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions) \$1 million. Covers claims arising from errors, omissions, or negligence in delivery of IT services.
  - 3.3 Cyber Liability Insurance between \$1 to \$2 million.
  - 4. SOC 2 documentation and best-in-class security.
- 5. Minimal changes to the NMFA's environment in order to provide the requested services.

6. Adherence to NMFA's changed control processes and approved tools.

#### E. PROCUREMENT MANAGER

The NMFA has designated a Procurement Manager responsible for the conduct of this procurement whose name, address, and telephone number are listed below (all deliveries should be sent to this address):

New Mexico Finance Authority Attn: Procurement Manager 810 W. San Mateo Road Santa Fe, NM 87505 Telephone: (505) 992-9625

Email: nonyia@nmfa.net

This procurement is being conducted in accordance with and subject to the requirements of the NMFA's Procurement Policy ("Procurement Policy"). A copy of the Procurement Policy is available for inspection or review at the NMFA's offices or via the NMFA website at nmfinance.com.

Except as part of any interview that may be conducted as part of the evaluation process, until the award is made and notice given to all Offerors, no employee, agent, or representative of an Offeror shall discuss the RFP or make available or discuss an Offeror's proposal with an officer, member, employee, agent, or representative of the NMFA.

Until the award is made and notice given to all Offerors, the NMFA will not disclose the contents of any proposal with an Offeror or potential Offeror so as to make the contents of any offer available to competing or potential Offerors.

#### II. CONDITIONS GOVERNING THE PROCUREMENT

This section of the RFP contains the schedule for the procurement, describes the major procurement events, and specifies general requirements for the procurement.

#### A. SEQUENCE OF EVENTS

The Procurement Manager will make every effort to adhere to the following schedule:

Action	Responsibility	Date
1. Issuance of RFP	NMFA	10/23/25
2. Deadline to Submit Written Questions	Offerors	11/7/25
3. Response to Written Questions/RFP Amendments	NMFA	11/12/25

4. Submission of Proposals	Offerors	12/5/25
5. Review of Proposals	Evaluation Committee	12/8/25 to 12/12/25
6. Selection of Finalists	Evaluation Committee	12/17/26
7. Oral Presentations (if requested)	Finalists	1/5/26 to 1/13/26
8. Best and Final Offers	Finalist Offerors	1/14 /26
9. Selection and Award	Committee and/or Board	1/21/26
10. Protest Deadline		15 days after award

#### **B.** EXPLANATION OF EVENTS

The following paragraphs describe the activities listed in the sequence of events shown in Section II.A.

- 1. <u>Issuance of RFP</u>. This RFP is being issued by the NMFA on the date outlined above. Potential Offerors may be directly provided with a copy of the RFP by the Procurement Manager or may obtain a copy by visiting the NMFA's website at <a href="www.nmfinance.com">www.nmfinance.com</a>. The RFP may be cancelled or any or all proposals may be rejected in whole or in part when it is determined by the NMFA in its sole discretion, to be in the best interests of the NMFA.
- 2. <u>Deadline to Submit Written Questions</u> Potential Offerors may submit written questions concerning this RFP until the close of business on the date outlined in the Sequence of Events above. All questions must be submitted in writing <u>VIA EMAIL to the Procurement Manager.</u>
- 3. <u>Response to Written Questions/RFP Amendments</u>. The NMFA will make the questions and the NMFA's responses available via its website at <u>www.nmfinance.com</u> on the date outlined in the Sequence of Events above.
- 4. <u>Submission of Proposal</u>. Offeror proposals, including Appendix A, "Letter of Transmittal", must be received for review and evaluation by the Procurement Manager VIA **EMAIL NO LATER THAN 12:00 PM MOUNTAIN TIME ON DECEMBER 5, 2025.** Proposals must be emailed to the Procurement Manager at the address listed in Section I.E. The subject line of the email must clearly indicate that they are in response to the Request for Proposals to provide Document and Data Management Consulting Services to the NMFA.

A public log will be kept of the names of all Offeror organizations that submitted proposals. The contents of any proposal shall not be disclosed prior to contract award or cancellation of the RFP.

5. <u>Review of Proposals</u>. Proposals will be distributed to members of the Evaluation Committee for review on the date outlined in the Sequence of Events above.

The review of proposals will be performed by the NMFA's Evaluation Committee. During this time the Procurement Manager may, on behalf of the Evaluation Committee, initiate discussions with Offerors who submit responsive or potentially responsive proposals for the purpose of clarifying aspects of the proposal, but proposals may be accepted and evaluated without such discussion. Discussions shall not be initiated by the Offerors.

- 6. <u>Selection of Finalists</u>. The Evaluation Committee will select, and the Procurement Manager will notify the finalist Offerors. Only finalists will be invited to participate in the subsequent steps of the procurement.
- 7. Oral Presentations. Finalist Offerors may be required to present their proposals to the Evaluation Committee and stand for questions. The Procurement Manager will schedule the time for each finalist Offeror's presentation. All Offeror presentations will be held at the NMFA's offices in Santa Fe, New Mexico, depending on availability, or at another site that may be designated by the Procurement Manager. Offerors should be prepared to explain their understanding of this procurement and be prepared to answer questions. The Procurement Manager may limit the length of time given to each finalist Offeror for the oral presentation.
- 8. <u>Best and Final Offers from Finalists</u>. Finalist Offerors may be asked to submit revisions to their proposals for the purpose of obtaining Best and Final Offers. Best and Final Offers may be clarified and amended at the finalist Offerors' oral presentations.
- 9. <u>Selection of Offeror(s)</u>. The Evaluation Committee will select, and the Procurement Manager will notify the selected Offeror(s).

The contract shall be awarded to the Offeror(s) whose proposals are determined to be most advantageous, taking into consideration the evaluation factors set forth in the RFP and in accordance with the NMFA's Procurement Policy. The most advantageous proposals may or may not have received the most points.

If applicable, and in conformance with NMFA policies and procedures, the Evaluation Committee will present its decision regarding the selected Offeror(s) to the appropriate NMFA committee and/or to the NMFA Board of Directors for final approval.

Upon approval of the final contract, the parties shall execute the contract(s). An award of contract means a fully executed contract.

The NMFA will provide written notice of the award to all Offerors following the date of the award.

10. <u>Protest Deadline</u>. Any protest by an Offeror must be in conformance with the Procurement Policy. Protests must be submitted in writing to the Procurement Manager for distribution to the NMFA's Finance and Disclosure Committee within fifteen (15) calendar days of the award. Protests must include the name and address of the protester and the RFP number, and state with particularity the basis for the protest and the facts relied upon, including appropriate

supporting exhibits. It must also specify the ruling requested from the NMFA. **Protests received after this deadline will not be accepted.** 

#### C. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

This procurement will be conducted in accordance with the NMFA's Procurement Policy and the following general requirements.

- 1. <u>Acceptance of Conditions Governing the Procurement</u>. Offerors must indicate their acceptance of the Conditions Governing the Procurement section of this RFP in their Letter of Transmittal which is attached hereto as Appendix "A". Failure to submit the Letter of Transmittal will disqualify the Offeror from consideration by the Evaluation Committee. Submission of a proposal shall be deemed to constitute acceptance of the requirements outlined in the RFP.
- 2. <u>Incurring Cost.</u> Any cost incurred by the Offeror in preparation, transmittal or presentation of any proposal or material submitted in response to this RFP shall be borne solely by the Offeror.
- 3. <u>Prime Contractor Responsibility</u>. Any contract that may result from this RFP shall specify that the prime contractor is solely responsible for fulfillment of the contract with the NMFA. The NMFA will make contract payments only to the prime contractor.
- 4. <u>Subcontractors</u>. Use or potential use of subcontractors for services must be clearly explained in the Offeror's proposal, and subcontractors must be identified by name, to the extent known at the time of submission of the proposal. In the event the name of a subcontractor is not known at the time of the proposal, the Offeror shall describe in detail, the nature of the services that might be obtained from a subcontractor. The prime contractor shall be wholly responsible for the performance of all services, whether or not subcontractors are used.
- 5. <u>Amended Proposals</u>. An Offeror may submit an amended proposal before the deadline for receipt of proposals. Such amended proposal must be a complete replacement for a previously submitted proposal and must be clearly identified as such in the transmittal letter. The NMFA will not merge, collate or assemble proposal materials.
- 6. <u>Offeror's Rights to Withdraw Proposal</u>. An Offeror will be allowed to withdraw a proposal at any time prior to the deadline for receipt of proposals. The Offeror must submit a written withdrawal request signed by the Offeror's duly authorized representative addressed to the Procurement Manager.
- 7. <u>Proposal Offer Firm</u>. Responses to this RFP, including proposal prices, will be considered firm and binding for one hundred eighty (180) calendar days after the due date for receipt of proposals.
- 8. <u>Disclosure of Proposal Contents</u>. The proposals will be kept confidential until a contract is awarded by the NMFA or the Procurement is terminated. At that time, all proposals

and documents pertaining to the proposals will be open to the public in accordance with applicable law.

- 8.1. The Offeror hereby acknowledges that the NMFA is subject to state laws, including, without limitation, the Inspection of Public Records Act, Section 14-2-1 through 14-2-12 NMSA 1978, which provides generally that all records relating to a public business are open to public inspection and copying unless exempted under the Inspection of Public Records Act, and the Open Meetings Act, Section 10-15-1 through 10-15-4 NMSA 1978, which provides generally for open meetings for public deliberative bodies. Neither the Offeror nor any related entity shall make any claim against the NMFA if it makes available to the public any document, report, or other information the NMFA received from the Offeror or any related entity which was made public by the NMFA pursuant to the Inspection of Public Records Act or the Open Meetings Act, as permitted by law.
- 8.2. The NMFA acknowledges that an Offeror may desire to protect proprietary or confidential information from disclosure under certain circumstances when reasonable. Proprietary or confidential data shall be readily separable from the proposal in order to facilitate eventual public inspection of the non-confidential portion of the proposal and an Offeror <u>must</u> make a written request <u>at the time of submission of a proposal</u> to keep such information confidential.
- 8.3. Confidential data is normally restricted to confidential financial information concerning the Offeror's organization and data that qualifies as a trade secret in accordance with the Uniform Trade Secrets Act, Sections 57-3A-1 to 57-3A-7 NMSA 1978. The price of products offered, or the cost of services proposed shall not be designated or treated as proprietary or confidential information.
- 8.4. If a request is received for disclosure of information for which an Offeror has made a written request for confidentiality, the NMFA shall examine the Offeror's request and make a determination that specifies which portions of the proposal should be disclosed.
- 8.5. The NMFA may endeavor to contact the Offeror before releasing any information, but in no event will the NMFA be under any obligation to either contact the Offeror or refuse to disclose information permitted to be disclosed by New Mexico law. In addition, the Offeror agrees to fully release, waive and hold the NMFA and its employees and officers harmless from any liability or costs associated with the release of any information.
- 9. <u>No Obligation</u>. This procurement does not obligate the NMFA to the eventual purchase of any professional services offered.
- 10. <u>Termination</u>. This RFP may be canceled at any time and any and all proposals may be rejected in whole or in part when the NMFA determines, in its sole discretion, such action to be in the best interest of the NMFA.
- 11. <u>Sufficient Funding</u>. Any contract awarded as a result of this RFP process may be terminated if sufficient budget, funding or authorizations do not exist. The NMFA's decision as to

whether sufficient budget, funding or ad authorizations are available will be accepted by the contractor as final.

- 12. <u>Governing Law</u>. This procurement and any agreement with Offerors that may result shall be governed by the laws of the State of New Mexico.
- 13. <u>Basis for Proposal</u>. Only information supplied by the NMFA in writing through the Procurement Manager or in this RFP should be used as the basis for the preparation of Offeror proposals.
- 14. Contract Terms and Conditions. The contract between the NMFA and any Offeror shall be in substantially the format and contain the terms and conditions included in the sample contract attached hereto as Appendix B. By submitting a response to this RFP, the Offeror accepts and agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions outlined in the sample contract and shall not negotiate such terms unless an Offeror specifically objects to such terms and conditions in their response to the RFP. Should an Offeror object to any of the NMFA's terms and conditions, that Offeror must propose specific alternative language that is acceptable to the NMFA. General references to the Offeror's terms and conditions or attempts at complete substitutions are not acceptable to the NMFA and will result in disqualification of the Offeror's proposal.
- 14.1. Offerors must provide a brief discussion of the purpose and impact, if any, of each proposed change followed by the specific proposed alternate wording.
- 14.2. The NMFA reserves the right to negotiate with a successful Offeror provision in addition to those contained in this RFP.
- 15. <u>Offeror Qualifications</u>. The Evaluation Committee may make such investigations as necessary to determine the ability of the Offeror to adhere to the requirements specified within this RFP. The Evaluation Committee will, in its sole discretion, reject the proposal of any Offeror who it determines is not a responsible Offeror or fails to submit a responsive offer.
- 16. <u>Right to Waive Minor Irregularities</u>. The Evaluation Committee also reserves the right to waive any mandatory requirement provided that all of the otherwise responsive proposals failed to meet the same mandatory requirement and the failure to do so does not otherwise materially affect the procurement. This right is in the sole discretion of the Evaluation Committee.
- 17. <u>Change in Contractor Representatives</u>. The NMFA reserves the right to require a change in contractor representatives if the assigned representatives are not, in the opinion of the NMFA, meeting its needs adequately.
- 18. <u>NMFA's Rights</u>. The NMFA reserves the right to accept all or a portion of an Offeror's proposal.
- 19. Ownership of Proposals. One complete copy of all documents submitted in response to the RFP shall be placed into the procurement file. Those documents will become the property of the NMFA. Other copies may be destroyed.

#### III. RESPONSE FORMAT AND ORGANIZATION

#### A. NUMBER OF RESPONSES

Each Offeror may submit only one proposal.

Offerors shall electronically submit all proposals via pdf to the Procurement Manager on or before the closing date and time for receipt of proposals.

#### B. PROPOSAL FORMAT AND CONTENTS

All proposals must include the following:

#### 1. Proposal Organization

1.1 The Letter of Transmittal, which shall be considered an integral part of the proposal, shall be signed by the responsible individual(s) who is (are) authorized to bind the Offeror contractually. The Offeror shall utilize the Letter of Transmittal template, attached hereto as Appendix A, for completion of this requirement.

Among other requirements, the Letter of Transmittal shall include the name, address, and phone number of the Offeror and a statement from the Offeror agreeing to provide all the services in the Scope of Procurement and adhere to all requirements, specifications, terms and contract provisions set forth in this RFP and any attachments or amendments to the RFP.

- 1.2 The proposal must supply names and resumes of key personnel to be assigned to the performance of the responsibilities contemplated by the RFP. Resumes describing the qualifications of all professional personnel, excluding support staff, to be utilized in the performance of this agreement, including all subcontractors who have been identified, must show, at a minimum, the person's name, education, position, and total years and types of experience relevant to the performance of the agreement.
- 1.3 The proposal must outline how the Offeror meets the minimum qualifications set out in Section I(D).
- 1.4 The Offeror must submit evidence of appropriate professional liability insurance that will be in force at the inception of the contract and must agree to maintain such coverage throughout the term of any agreement. Such insurance must be in at least the amount outlined in the Minimum Qualifications, and shall cover the Offeror, its employees, agents, representatives, and subcontractors.
- 1.5 A detailed description of Offeror's knowledge and experience with respect to the services to be provided, with specific details/examples of consultant services provided to similar entities. The Offeror must outline its, and its personnel's experience with NIST/CIS and ISO frameworks.

- 1.6 A list of three (3) references for the Offeror's work with other entities supplying the services outlined herein.
- 1.7 A detailed description of the Offeror's availability and accessibility to the NMFA in providing the services outlined herein. The Offeror should discuss the availability of frequent meetings and staffing breadth to perform services as requested by the NMFA.
- 1.8 A statement disclosing (i) any current or proposed business transaction between the Offeror and any member, officer or employee of the NMFA; and (ii) any other conflict or potential conflict which may reasonably give rise to a claim of conflict of interest.
- 1.9 A specific description of the Offeror's proposal for each of the elements outlined in the Scope of Work, including the Offeror's approach, plan, a discussion of the manner in which the personnel will be made available to provide the services and such other information as the Offeror reasonably believes necessary to explain its proposal for meeting the needs of the NMFA.
  - 1.10 Provide specific information relative to the following:
- 1.11 Describe your governance model including roles and responsibilities. Please identify the Account Manager, Service Delivery Manager, Escalation POCs, along with resumes of key staff.
- 1.12 Provide and summarize SLAs and KPIs and describe how these metrics are monitored and reported upon.
- 1.13 Specify the frequency and format of reports (e.g. real-time, monthly dashboards, quarterly reviews, etc.) inclusive of:
  - 1.13.1 Incident and service request metrics
  - 1.13.2 Root cause analysis for incidents
  - 1.13.3 Improvement initiatives
  - 1.13.4 Quarterly Business Reviews
  - 1.13.5 Annual Performance Audits
  - 1.13.6 Participation in Third Party Audits and Pen Tests

#### 2. Fee and Cost Schedule

2.1 <u>Fees.</u> A specific fee for the Offeror's services should be included in the proposal not to exceed the Offeror's standard fee schedule. The fee, if appropriate, shall either be properly detailed and broken down by hourly rates for each potential task or individual that will be involved with the services to be provided, or provide sufficient detail in the case of a flat fee proposal so that the services to be provided can be properly analyzed to determine the reasonableness of costs and profit margin, or be deliverable-based according to the agreed-upon Scope of Work. The Offeror shall, if appropriate, also provide a not to exceed cost for each year of any resulting contract.

- 2.2 <u>Reimbursement of Costs</u>. The proposal shall provide detailed information concerning any expenses for which the Offeror proposes to be reimbursed in addition to the fee. If the Offeror proposes to be reimbursed for travel expenses, reimbursement shall be subject to approval by the NMFA for reasonableness. An invoice for services provided and reimbursable expenses incurred, if any, must be presented before any payment under the contract shall be made.
- 2.3 <u>Subcontracting</u>. Any fee of a subcontractor will be paid solely by the Contractor. The NMFA will not pay a subcontractor separately. In addition to the compensation, the Offeror shall be reimbursed for New Mexico gross receipts taxes paid to the New Mexico Taxation and Revenue Department, if applicable.

#### IV. EVALUATION

The following is a summary of items for which Offerors can be awarded evaluation points. These weighted factors shall be used in the evaluation of the individual Offeror responses.

#### A. EVALUATION POINT TABLE/SUMMARY:

Evaluation Factor	Points
1. Experience with Standards & Providing Services	10
2. Support Desk Support, Plan and Expertise	15
3. NOC Support and Expertise	15
4. License Consolidation Plan and Abilities	10
5. Transition Plan	15
6. SLAs, Response Times and System Expertise	15
7. Team Composition	10
8. Fee proposal	10
Total Points	100

#### **B.** EVALUATION FACTORS

The award of a contract shall be made to the responsible Offeror(s) whose proposal is most advantageous to the NMFA taking into consideration the above weighted evaluation factors based on the information requested in the Scope of Work. **Please note**, however, that a serious deficiency in any one criterion may be grounds for rejection and that the listing of cost as an evaluation factor does not require the NMFA to select the Offeror who submits the lowest cost proposal. The NMFA shall, in its sole discretion, have the right to obtain from any and all sources, information concerning an Offeror which is deemed pertinent to the RFP and to consider such information in the evaluation of the Offeror's proposal.

#### C. EVALUATION PROCESS

1. All Offeror proposals will be reviewed for compliance with the mandatory requirements stated within the RFP. Proposals deemed non-responsive will be eliminated from

#### further consideration.

- 2. The Procurement Manager may contact the Offeror for clarification of the response.
- 3. The Evaluation Committee may use other sources of information to perform the evaluation as specified in Section IV(B).
- 4. Responsive proposals will be evaluated utilizing the factors outlined in Section IV(A) that have been assigned a point value in order to assist the Evaluation Committee in selecting an Offeror(s) most advantageous to the NMFA. The responsible Offeror(s) whose proposal is most advantageous to the NMFA, taking into consideration the evaluation factors in Section IV, will be recommended for contract award.

#### APPENDIX A

#### LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL FORM

# RFP for Third-Party Information Technology (IT) services for Support Desk and Network Operations Center (NOC)

In acknowledgement of its intent to respond to this Request for Proposal the undersigned makes the following representations as required by the RFP.

OFFEROR:			
ADDRESS:			
CITY:	STATE:	ZIP:	
PRIMARY CONTACT:			
PHONE NO. ()		_	
E-MAIL ADDRESS			
FEDERAL EMPLOYER II			
<ol> <li>This Proposal is a firm at 2. The Offeror is willing to 3. The Offeror is able to propose 4. The Offeror accepts all at 5. The Offeror agrees to the to this RFP.</li> <li>The following material at the Offeror hereby acknown Act, (NMSA 1978 Ch. 14, NMFA harmless for the release of the control of the cont</li></ol>	and irrevocable offer for a perform all of the services as terms and conditions as out terms and conditions out is considered by the Offerd vledges that the NMFA is sharticle 2) and the Offeror lease of any information, the Offeror, if the NMFA	as outlined in the RFP upon submission.	he ial
The undersigned is authoriz	ed to contractually bind th	the Offeror:	
By submission of this cover statements.	letter, the Offeror hereby	y certifies that the above are true and correct	t
Name:		Title:	

Signature:

#### APPENDIX B

#### **NEW MEXICO FINANCE AUTHORITY**

#### PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made and entered into by and between the New Mexico Finance Authority ("NMFA") and [INSERT Contractor Name] ("Contractor"), collectively referred to as the "Parties".

The Parties agree as follows:

1. <u>Scope of Work.</u>

The Contractor, as requested by the NMFA, shall perform the following services:

## [INSERT SOW DESCRIPTION]

- 2. <u>Compensation</u>.
- a. <u>Services</u>: The NMFA shall pay to the Contractor as compensation for services rendered upon full and satisfactory completion, in the sole discretion of the NMFA, of the services, reports and deliverables outlined in the Scope of Work, plus applicable New Mexico Gross Receipts Tax, as follows:

#### [INSERT PAYMENT PROVISIONS]

- b. <u>Payment</u>: Payment shall be made to Contractor monthly, after receipt and review of a detailed statement from the Contractor, for services rendered to the NMFA. If requested by the NMFA, a detailed estimate of all items for which the Contractor will request reimbursement will be provided to the NMFA in advance of actual expenditures. Contractor shall submit all invoices and billing-related correspondence to NMFA Accounts Payable ap@nmfa.net.
- c. <u>Gross Receipts Taxes and Expenses</u>. The Contractor shall bill the NMFA for reimbursement of gross-receipts taxes levied on fees paid and disbursements reimbursed to Contractor under this Agreement including reimbursement of reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket expenses as approved by the NMFA. The Contractor shall not bill the NMFA for overhead expenses. The Contractor is responsible for paying to the New Mexico Taxation and Revenue Department all gross receipts taxes levied on amounts paid under this Agreement.
- d. Not to Exceed. The total compensation paid under this Agreement shall not exceed \$\_\_\_\_\_, including reimbursement of expenses and gross receipts taxes.

#### 3. Term.

This Agreement is effective on [INSERT MONTH DAY YEAR] and shall continue in effect until [INSERT MONTH DAY YEAR], unless it is terminated earlier pursuant to Paragraph 4 of this Agreement or at the time Contractor has received the maximum compensation permitted under this Agreement. Under no circumstances may the term of this Agreement exceed four (4) years, including any extensions.

#### 4. Termination.

- a. <u>Termination for Cause</u>. In addition to the NMFA's legal and equitable rights and remedies, the NMFA may terminate this Agreement at any time: (i) for Contractor's negligence, misconduct or breach of a term or condition of this Agreement, including but not limited to, failing to meet the Standard of Care outlined in Paragraph 5 below; (ii) failure to perform the Scope of Work as provided herein for any reason; or (iii) if the NMFA determines that, as the result of any occurrence or change of circumstances involving Contractor, the continued association with Contractor as provided hereunder would have an adverse impact on the name, image, reputation, goodwill or proprietary rights of the NMFA.
- b. <u>Termination for No Cause</u>. The NMFA may terminate this Agreement at any time for no cause, subject only to the NMFA's obligation to pay Contractor the unpaid compensation for services already performed as set forth in Paragraph 2 above.

#### 5. Standard of Care.

Contractor hereby represents that it is an expert in providing the services contemplated by this Agreement. Therefore, over and above, and in addition to, any fiduciary or other obligations under applicable law, Contractor agrees that it shall at all times exercise at least the degree of care and competence as would a professional expert with superior skills in providing the services outlined in the Scope of Work.

#### 6. <u>Key Person</u>.

Following the effective date of this Agreement, the Key People (as defined below) shall be the principal individuals responsible for the performance of the Scope of Work. The Contractor shall not substitute any other professionals in lieu of any of the Key People for the performance of the Scope of Work without first receiving written consent of the NMFA. Should the Contractor release any of the Key People from the employment of the Contractor during the term of this Agreement or for any reason one of the Key People terminates his or her

responsibilities for the Contractor or becomes unable to maintain his or her responsibilities for the Contractor under this Agreement, the NMFA shall (a) be notified by the Contractor seven (7) calendar days prior to such event and (b) be provided the right to terminate this Agreement. The Key People shall be:

#### [INSERT KEY PEOPLE]

#### 7. Insurance.

The Contractor shall, at all times during the pendency of this agreement, maintain adequate liability insurance in the amounts proscribed by the NMFA namely, [INSERT COVERAGE AMOUNTS]

#### 8. Status of Contractor.

The Contractor is an independent contractor performing professional services for the NMFA as described above, and nothing herein contained shall be deemed to create an agency relationship between Contractor and the NMFA and Contractor is not an employee of the NMFA. In no event shall Contractor be entitled to participate in, or be entitled to receive any benefits from, the NMFA's employee benefit plan, nor shall Contractor be entitled to accrue leave, retirement, insurance, bonding authority, use of NMFA vehicles, or any other benefits, except as specifically set forth in this paragraph, accorded to employees of the NMFA as a result of this Agreement. The Contractor acknowledges that it is responsible for any and all reporting required to be made to any taxing authority for income tax purposes. The provisions of this Paragraph 8 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement.

#### 9. <u>Litigation/Regulatory Action</u>.

As of the effective date of this Agreement, the Contractor is not aware of any regulatory or self-regulatory investigation or legal or arbitration proceeding against the Contractor or any notice of a regulator in respect of the Contractor that has not been disclosed to the NMFA and, if after the date hereof, the Contractor should become aware of any regulatory or self-regulatory investigation or notice (other than routine information requests that the Contractor reasonably believes are not targeted at the Contractor but is instead an industry-wide request) or any legal or arbitration proceeding filed against the Contractor, the Contractor shall inform the NMFA of such investigation or lawsuit promptly, and in any event within five (5) calendar days after learning of such investigation or lawsuit.

#### 10. Assignment.

The Contractor shall not assign or transfer any interest in this Agreement or assign any claims for money due or to become due under this Agreement without the prior written approval of the NMFA.

#### 11. Subcontracting.

The Contractor shall not subcontract any portion of the services to be performed under this Agreement without prior approval of the NMFA. All fees and expenses of any approved subcontractor shall be billable by the subcontractor directly to the Contractor and paid by the Contractor to the subcontractor. The NMFA is not responsible to any subcontractor for any fees, expenses, or payment of any kind. The Contractor assumes full and complete responsibility and liability for each subcontractor's performance of services under the Agreement and such performance shall be judged in accordance with the Standard of Care set out in Paragraph 5 herein.

#### 12. Products and Services/Copyright.

All materials developed or acquired by the Contractor under this Agreement are the property of the NMFA and shall be delivered to the NMFA no later than the termination date of this Agreement. Nothing produced, in whole or in part, by the contractor under this Agreement shall be the subject of an application for copyright by or on behalf of the Contractor. Contractor shall acquire no right under this Agreement to use, and shall not use, the name "NMFA" or designs of the NMFA.

# 13. Records and Audits.

The Contractor shall maintain detailed records of all fees and expenses for three years from the expiration or termination of the Agreement. Those records shall be subject to inspections and audit by the NMFA and its authorized representatives. The NMFA shall have the right to audit billings both before and after payment. Payment under this Agreement shall not foreclose the right of the NMFA to recover excessive or illegal payments.

#### 14. Release.

The Contractor shall, upon final payment of the amount due under this Agreement, release the NMFA, its officers and employees, from all liabilities, claims and obligations whatsoever arising from or under this Agreement. The Contractor agrees not to purport to bind the NMFA to any obligations not assumed herein by the NMFA, unless the Contractor has express written authorization to do so and then only within the strict limits of that authorization.

#### 15. <u>Confidentiality</u>.

Any confidential information provided to or developed by Contractor in the performance of this Agreement shall be kept confidential and shall not be made available to any individual or organization by Contractor without written approval of the NMFA.

Contractor shall wholly and fully indemnify the NMFA against any and all losses, damages, costs, expenses, legal fees and liability resulting or arising from the release of information in violation of this paragraph by Contractor, its officers, employees, subcontractors, affiliates or anyone under the control of Contractor.

#### 16. Conflict of Interest.

The Contractor warrants that the Contractor currently has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, that does or would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of services required under this Agreement.

#### 17. Amendment.

This Agreement shall not be altered, changed, or amended except by an instrument in writing that is executed by both Parties.

## 18. <u>Merger</u>.

This Agreement shall incorporate all the agreements, covenants, and understandings between the Parties hereto concerning the subject matter thereof, and all such covenants, agreements and understandings, oral or otherwise, of the parties shall not be valid or enforceable unless embodied in this Agreement.

#### 19. Waiver.

No waiver of any breach of this Agreement or any of the terms or conditions thereof shall be held to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach, nor shall any waiver be valid unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the party alleged to have granted the waiver.

#### 20. Notices.

All notices, or other communications regarding the implementation of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered by registered or certified mail or overnight carrier. The NMFA may, in its sole discretion, call for a notice to be effective if sent by email communication upon telephonic confirmation to the sender of receipt of the email. Notices shall be addressed to:

NMFA: Name: Marquita D. Russel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Address: New Mexico Finance Authority

810 W. San Mateo Road

Santa Fe, NM 87505

Telephone: (505) 984-1454

With a copy to the NMFA OGC: ogc@nmfa.net

Contractor: Name: [INSERT]

Title: [INSERT]
Address: [INSERT]
Telephone: [INSERT]
Email: [INSERT]

#### 21. Scope of Agreement.

This Agreement incorporates all the agreements and understandings between the parties concerning its subject matter, and all agreements and understandings have been merged into this Agreement. No prior or contemporaneous agreement or understanding, verbal or otherwise, of the parties or their agents concerning the subject matter of this Agreement is valid or enforceable unless included in this Agreement.

#### 22. Indemnification.

Contractor shall indemnify and hold the NMFA, its officers, directors, agents, employees and assigns, harmless from and against any and all claims, demands, suits judgments, losses or expenses of any nature whatsoever (including attorneys' fees) arising out of any material breach of Contractor's representations and warranties as set forth herein, any third party claim of infringement regarding the Services, or any other failure of Contractor to comply with the obligations to be performed hereunder. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary above, Contractor shall have no indemnification obligations under this paragraph with respect to any claims that the NMFA (in its reasonable and good faith business judgment) determines are so-called "frivolous" or "nuisance" claims. The provisions of this paragraph shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of this Agreement.

#### 23. Penalties for Violation of Law.

The New Mexico criminal statutes impose felony penalties for bribes, illegal gratuities and kickbacks.

#### 24. <u>Equal Opportunity Compliance</u>.

The Contractor agrees to abide by all Federal and State laws and rules and regulations, and Executive orders of the Governor of the State of New Mexico, pertaining to equal employment opportunity.

#### 25. Applicable Law.

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of New Mexico.

#### 26. No Guaranty.

Contractor acknowledges and agrees that by providing the Services, the NMFA is not obligated to offer Contractor any further employment opportunities with the NMFA, and that Contractor is performing such Services only for the duration of the Term of this Agreement, unless the NMFA, in its sole discretion, determines to do otherwise.

#### 27. Full Authority.

Contractor and the NMFA represent that (i) each has all rights, power and authority necessary to enter into and perform this Agreement, (ii) that neither Contractor nor the NMFA has granted any third-party rights inconsistent with the rights and obligations of the other party, and (iii) both Contractor and the NMFA shall reasonably cooperate with the other party in connection with their respective rights and obligations.

#### 28. Facsimile/Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts and may be returned signed by electronic e-mail or facsimile.

[Remainder of page intentionally blank.]
[Signatures on next page.]

	NEW MEXICO FINANCE AUTHORITY
	By: Marquita D. Russel
	Chief Executive Officer
Reviewed and approved by the N Finance Authority Legal and Cor	
By:	
y	
	(CONTRACTOR)